
Board of Appeals Meeting 
October 3, 2018 – 7:00 PM 

Town Office Conference Room 
 

 
 

Meeting Materials 
 



Board of Appeals Meeting 
October 3, 2018 – 7:00 PM 

Town Office Conference Room 
 

AGENDA 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
MINUTES 
June 4, 2018 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
 
APPEALS 
Douglas Wight – Administrative Appeal – 108 Legendre Lane – Map 23 Lot 6 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
ADJOURNMENT 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 1 of 9 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER – Chairperson Mark Hyland called the meeting to order at 7:00pm with 
Members Gerard Bowes, Joseph Radziszewski, Jr, Lou Ann Lancaster, and Stanley 
Tetenman (a voting member for this meeting) present. Member Richard Carlson absent 
with notice.  
 
Public Attendance: Code Enforcement Officer Scott Neal, Recording Secretary Sarah 
Merrill, Elizabeth and David Carr, David Gravel, John Leonard, and Steve Lancaster 
present.  
 
MINUTES –  None 
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS – None 
 
 
APPEALS – Variance Appeal – 54 Watson Road – Elizabeth and David Carr  
– Map 5 Lot 16 Sub-lot B7 
 

• Elizabeth and David Carr are present. 
 

• Standing: Member Radziszewski makes a motion that the Carr’s have standing 
by virtue of the fact that they own Map 6 Lot 16 Sub-lot B7. Vice Chairperson 
Bowes seconds the motion. Discussion: None     Vote: 5- Yes   0-No 
 

• Cause of Action: Vice Chairperson Bowes makes a motion that the Appellants 
have a cause of action because the Town is saying that they have violated their 
building permit of June 11, 2008. Member Radziszewski seconds the motion. 
Discussion: None  
Vote: 5- Yes   0-No 

 
• Appellants: Elizabeth and David Carr are before the Board with a variance 

appeal request. They have a 24’ x 24’ garage that does not meet the setback 
requirements. Ms. Carr states that the garage was placed in this spot because it 
was the only practical spot due to the steep slope of the lot, the location of the 
leach field, the location of the driveway, and the door to the lower apartment. The 
Carr’s were given a building permit by a previous Code Enforcement Officer 
(hereafter “CEO”), Arthur Dunlap, who then inspected the slab. During this 
inspection the garage did not meet the required setbacks stated on the permit 
and is too close to the right of way. Ms. Carr states that CEO Dunlap did not tell 
them it had to be moved. On January 2, 2018 the Carr’s received a letter from 
the previous CEO, Robert Folsom, stating that the garage didn’t meet the 
setback requirements and needed to be moved. Ms. Carr states that they looked 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 2 of 9 
 

into moving the garage, but the cost is $12,000 which is a hardship and why is it 
necessary 10 years after the fact. 

• Chairperson Hyland states that there are a couple of problems. First is that we 
can’t expect the CEO to know every detail about each person’s piece of property. 
He doubts that CEO Dunlap knew about the right of way. 

o Ms. Carr states that CEO Dunlap was not only aware of the right of way 
he also helped them design it.  Also, that CEO Dunlap allowed the garage 
to go there because it’s the most practical, highest, and best use of the 
property. He used his discretion to do this, which in her understanding the 
CEO is allowed to do.  

o Member Radziszewski asked if the right of way was in the design and if 
CEO Dunlap allowed her to do that. Ms. Carr states it was in the design 
and that CEO Dunlap allowed it.  

• Vice Chairperson Bowes asks if zoning or something had changed a few years 
ago. 

o Ms. Carr states that in 2014 or 2015 the zoning had changed, and the lot 
changed hands between Ms. Carr and her sister when they swapped 
properties requiring deed changes. Ms. Carr and her sister were then held 
to the new code requirements for their properties.  

• Ms. Carr states that CEO Dunlap as well as CEO Nick Adams weren’t going to 
require them to move the garage. Also, CEO Folsom said he wasn’t going to make 
them move the garage until he was pressured by Jim Porter of the Planning Board. 

•  Member Tetenman wants to know if there are no notes in the file by any former 
CEO stating what they have said to a person about their property. Chairperson 
Hyland states that it’s happened before.  

o Member Tetenman would like to suggest to the current CEO Scott Neal that 
he keep notes of similar types of conversations to avoid situations like this.  

o Chairperson Hyland states that it is up to the applicant to comply with the 
variance. Meaning they were given a permit stating that they have to have 
a certain setback and they should have kept the setback.  

o Member Tetenman asks if the permit was given with the intention that they 
wouldn’t meet the setbacks then why can’t the variance be given. 

o Chairperson Hyland states that the CEO doesn’t have the ability to change 
the setbacks. If you can’t comply with the ordinance, then you have to go to 
the Planning Board or the Appeals Board to change the setbacks.  

o Ms. Carr states that the setback for an accessory structure is twenty feet 
(20’) not forty feet (40’) which proves that this permit is just a boiler plate 
permit.  

o CEO Neal states that is the requirement for the side setback which is what 
can be used now because the Carr’s have added the driveway in. However, 
on the original permit that was considered the road frontage not a side 
setback.   



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 3 of 9 
 

 
• Member Radziszewski asks if these properties are owned by them and if anyone 

else is involved with this. 
o Ms. Carr states that her family owns the properties, that Mr. Gravel lives on 

the front lot, but he doesn’t use the right of way, and only her family uses 
the right of way.  

• Vice Chairperson Bowes states that the problem occurs if the Carrs ever go to sell 
one of the lots on the right of way then the lot would become a non-conforming lot 
because of the garage.  

• Chairperson Hyland asks if this is a back-lot driveway is there a driveway on the 
front of the lot. 

o Ms. Carr states that there isn’t. That of the three lots only the second and 
third lot are on the right of way and it cost $36,000 to put in. Ms. Carr showed 
on a survey map how this is set up.  

• Chairperson Hyland asks what was resolved when they went to the planning 
board.  

o Ms. Carr states that they required her to put in a back-lot driveway up to 
Town standards with a hammer head and a turn around etc.  

o Vice Chairperson Bowes suggests that they table this and ask Jim Porter, 
Planning Board Chairperson, to attend a meeting. Vice Chairperson Bowes 
recalls that this was mentioned in a planning board meeting he attended. If 
the Carr’s are saying that Chairperson Porter was after CEO Folsom to 
issue the violation, then maybe in Chairperson Porter’s mind when they 
approved the back-lot driveway to have a buildable lot they were under the 
assumption that it was agreed to move the garage.  

o Ms. Carr states that is not what happened and shows the survey map for 
the back-lot driveway with the signatures from the planning board. She 
further states that the garage was not part of the conversation with the 
planning board on back-lot driveway.  

• Chairperson Hyland states that it sounds like the right of way was there but there 
was no intent to develop it during this whole process. He asks if they were always 
going to put a driveway in this lot. Ms. Carr states that they did.  

• Ms. Carr states that her issue tonight is that they were issued a permit, got it 
approved, got the building approved, and then ten years later we’re told it needs 
to be moved even though various CEO’s didn’t want to make us move it because 
it’s impractical.  

o Chairperson Hyland states that even though it’s impractical but because of 
everything that’s happened on the lots over the years it’s become a problem 
because it no longer complies with the setbacks.  

o Member Tetenman asks if it originally complies with the setbacks.  
o Member Radziszewski states that he thinks it did comply because the sixty-

foot (60’) right of way wasn’t in there.  
o Ms. Carr states that the right of way was always in the plan because they 

had to have the frontage for the second and third lots.   



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 4 of 9 
 

o Chairperson Hyland asked if they were ever planning to bring the driveway 
from lot one onto lot two. 

o Ms. Carr states they weren’t because lot one is on Upper Range Drive with 
its own address and doesn’t need to use the right of way.  

• Member Radziszewski asks the Ms. Carr what she would do if they Board turns 
down her variance request.  

o Ms. Carr states they would have to either tear it down or bring in the fill, but 
it just doesn’t seem reasonable to spend that kind of money.  

o Member Radziszewski states that it’s sixteen feet five inches (16’ 5”) that 
they’re asking for a variance on not a couple of inches.  

o Ms. Carr states that the variance was granted at the time it was built.  
o CEO Neal states that the original right of way curved away from the garage 

close to one side. Therefore, it may have looked at the time like it met the 
setback requirements, but it doesn’t anymore because the right of way has 
been straightened. 

o Chairperson Hyland asks if because of fire protection and things like that 
they have to have a certain size for the back-lot driveway. 

o CEO Neal states that is correct.  
o Ms. Carr states that it’s required to be twelve feet (12’) wide with two feet 

(2’) on either side, but the ditching on this is what required it to be the full 
sixty feet (60’).  

• Chairperson Hyland asks if there are any other questions for the Carrs. Hearing 
none he then asks if there any questions from the audience for the Carrs. Hearing 
none he then asks if the CEO has any questions. Hearing none he asks if there’s 
anyone who wishes to speak in favor of this variance request. 
 

• Public Comment: David Gravel of 50 Watson Road states that the Carrs should 
get the variance approved because of all of the work they’ve done.  

• Chairperson Hyland asks if anyone wishes to speak in opposition of the variance 
request. 

• John Leonard of 156 Cleve Tripp Road states that he has conflict with the project 
because it affects the trails on his property and he thinks the variance shouldn’t be 
given.  

• Chairperson Hyland asks if anyone has any rebuttal to what Mr. Leonard had to 
say.  

• Steve Lancaster of 164 Watson Road states that he isn’t sure what Mr. Leonard’s 
conflict is and would he please clarify.  

• Chairperson Hyland states that he thinks the conflict is that he owns the property 
across from the violation and are looking right at it.  

• Mr. Gravel states that he uses the trails on Mr. Leonard’s property and doesn’t 
think that the variance affects them at all.  

 
• Closing the Public Hearing: Vice Chairperson Bowes makes a motion to close 

the public hearing. Member Tetenman seconds the motion. Discussion: None 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 5 of 9 
 

Vote: 5- Yes   0- No 
 

• Board Deliberations 
o Chairperson Hyland reads through § 304.2 B. 2. d. 2. (page 25 of the 2018 

CLUC) of the Poland Land Use Code, about the requirements of variance 
appeals and the specific reasons a variance may or may not be given.  

o Chairperson Hyland states that in his opinion of these CLUC sections the 
Carrs do not meet § 304.2 B.2.d.2.b. and § 304.2 B.2.d.2.c.  

o Member Tetenman states that based on the letters from people in the 
neighborhood he doesn’t think that granting the variance will cause an 
undesirable change in the neighborhood.  

o Member Radziszewski states he would like to know if CEO Neal has 
anything he’d like to add.  

o CEO Neal states that he has offered to let the Carrs use the back-lot 
driveway to turn what is now the front of the lot into the side of the lot. This 
would allow them to use side lot setbacks for an accessory structure which 
is twenty feet (20’). It would be a matter of turning the garage sixteen and a 
half feet (16’ 5”) and pushing it over a bit which wouldn’t push it back down 
towards the hill.   

o Member Radziszewski states that they don’t meet two of the criteria. But if 
they were willing to shift the garage around it would be better because this 
will be a problem to a future buyer.  

o Member Bowes states it will be a problem for a future buyer because they 
won’t be able to get title insurance with a structure in a setback. You would 
have to have a variance.  

o Chairperson Hyland asks CEO Neal if the structure was rotated that it would 
be farther away from the property line.  

o CEO states that if you can bring the front corner over nine feet (9’) and 
rotate the back corner around so that there’s twenty feet (20’) at both 
corners it pushes it closer to the house that’s there and away from the slope.  

o Ms. Carr states that it is a minimum of $5,000.00 to move it plus the pad 
you have to pour. It would probably be a minimum cost of $7,000.00 to pivot 
the garage. Ms. Carr believes this meets the economic hardship criteria.  

o Member Tetenman states that the previous CEO gave approval whether the 
permit was written incorrectly, or it should have gone to the planning board. 
The fact is it wasn’t done and that’s happened in the past as to things being 
approved that shouldn’t have been approved. Cost does become a factor. 
It’s about whether it’s feasible in reality. 

o Member Lancaster states that if someone in the future buys that property 
they’ll understand what’s going on and if there’s a variance then there won’t 
be an issue.  

o Vice Chairperson Bowes states that you went to the Planning Board to get 
your back-lot driveway and the issue of the garage came up several times 
because it was in the setbacks and needed to be moved. Because of turn 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 6 of 9 
 

over in the Code Enforcement Office Chairperson Porter of the planning 
board wanted to make sure that the garage was moved as agreed upon. 
This is why CEO Folsom wrote them the letter. Did you write to him and say 
no?  

o Ms. Carr states that she did write back to him and the email was returned 
to her because CEO Neal had taken over by that time. CEO Folsom wrote 
the letter just before he left, and he had talked to her about trying to get a 
seven (7) year statute of limitation for it. It went to the town attorney and he 
was told that it didn’t apply to this case. Chairperson Porter of the Planning 
board went to the Town Manager who pressured CEO Folsom to write the 
letter. CEO Folsom did not want to write that letter. They’re talking about a 
garage not a house. 

o Member Radziszewski asks if the Carrs had offered to move the garage as 
stated in the letter from CEO Folsom. Ms. Carr stated that they didn’t.    

 
• Member Tetenman makes a motion to grant a sixteen and a half foot (16’ 5”) 

variance for the structure. Member Lancaster seconds the motion. 
Discussion: none     Vote: 2- yes   3- No  Variance is Denied 

 
Findings of Fact: 

1. Name of Applicant: Elizabeth Carr 
2. Mailing Address: 189 Watson Road 
3. City or Town: Poland   State: Maine 
4. Telephone: 207-240-0468 
5. Name of Property Owner (if different from applicant): David and Elizabeth Carr 
6. Location of property for which variance is requested (street/road address): 54 

Watson Road 
7. Zoning district in which property is located: Rural Residential 2 
8. Tax map and lot number of subject property: Map 0005, Lot 0016, Sub-lot B007 
9. The applicant has demonstrated a legal interest in the subject property by 

providing a copy of a: warranty deed 
10. The applicant has proposed the following building, structure, use, or activity on the 

subject property: 24’ x 24’ garage where the northwest corner of the garage is 11’5” 
away from the right of way and the southwest corner of the garage is 3’5” from the 
right of way.  

11. The applicant seeks a variance from the following dimensional standard: The 
required setback is 20’ and the applicant has requested a variance from the 
dimensional setback of 16’5”. Which is contained in section: 509.11C “The back 
lot driveway right-of-way shall be considered the front of the lot for the purposes of 
determining the front setbacks for both the front and back lot(s). Existing buildings 
on the front lot need only be set back from the right-of-way by a distance equivalent 
to the minimum side setback in the applicable zoning district.” Comprehensive 
Land Use Code for the Town of Poland.    

12. The land is being used as: a residence 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 7 of 9 
 

13. The conditions and character of the neighborhood are: residential properties. 
14. The conditions of the property are: primarily wooded with areas that are cleared 

for structures.  
15. The applicant has requested the following type of variance (check appropriate 

one): 
a. ___ Undue Hardship Dimensional Variance (30-A M.R.S.A §4353(4)); 
b. ___ Disability Variance for ingress/egress to a dwelling (30-A M.R.S.A 

§4353(4- A)(A); 
c. ___ Disability variance for Residential Garage (30-A M.R.S.A §4353-A(B), 

available only if the municipality has adopted an ordinance to authorize this 
variance 

d. ___ Setback variance for Single Family Dwellings (30-A M.R.S.A §4353(4-
B), available only if the municipality has adopted an ordinance to authorize 
this variance, or 

e. _X_ Practical Difficulty Dimensional Variance (30-A M.R.S.A §4353(4-C), 
available only if the municipality has adopted an ordinance to authorize this 
variance. 

 
16. On June 4, 2018 the Board of Appeals conducted a public hearing on this 

application for a variance to deliberate this application and to prepare Findings of 
Fact and Conclusions of Law.  

17. Additional facts (other facts relevant to ordinance criteria): None 
 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW: 
Based upon the facts stated above and for the reasons that follow, the Board concludes 
that: 

1. The proposed structure or use would meet then performance standards of this 
Code except for the specific provision which has created the nonconformity and 
from which relief is sought; and 

2. The strict application of this Code to the petitioner and the petitioner’s property 
would cause a practical difficulty when the following conditions exist: 

a. That the need for a variance is due to the unique circumstances of the 
property and not to the general conditions in the neighborhood: The unique 
circumstances for this property is that the slopes are steep while most of 
the lots don’t have steep slopes.  

b. That the granting of the variance will not produce an undesirable change in 
the character of the neighborhood and will not unreasonably detrimentally 
affect the use or market value of abutting properties: We heard testimony 
from abutters that it would and it would not produce an undesirable change 
in the neighborhood.  

c. That the practical difficulty is not the result of action taken by the petitioner 
or a prior owner: A majority of the members of the board found that the 
difficulty was a result of actions taken by the petitioner in that they built the 
garage too close to the right of way. Two of the members felt that part of the 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 8 of 9 
 

responsibility for putting the garage in the wrong spot belongs to the Code 
Enforcement Officer at the time the garage was permitted and inspected. 

d. No other feasible alternative is available to the petitioner: There were 
members of the board who felt that rotating the garage and changing the 
location was not necessarily infeasible even though it may be expensive. 

e. That the granting of the variance will not unreasonably adversely affect the 
natural environment: We heard no testimony that it would unreasonably 
adversely affect the natural environment. 

f. That the structure or land area for which a variance is sought is not located 
in whole or in part within the Shoreland Area and/or one hundred (100) year 
flood plain: We heard testimony from the Carr’s, abutting property owners, 
and the Code Enforcement Officer that the property is outside the shoreland 
zone.  

 
DECISION: 
On the basis of the above Findings of fact and Conclusions of Law, the Board of Appeals 
voted by a vote of 2 -3 to deny the application for a variance.  
 
APPEALS: 
Parties aggrieved of this decision may appeal to Superior Court within 45 days from the 
date of the decision pursuant to 30-M.R.S.A §2691 and Maine Rules of Civil Procedure, 
Role 80B. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS – None 
 
 
ADJOURN – Member Tetenman makes a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:33 pm. 
Member Radziszewski seconds the motion. Discussion: None     Vote: 5-Yes   0-No 
 
Recorded by:  Sarah Merrill 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



POLAND BOARD OF APPEALS 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

June 4, 2018 
Approved on                         , 2018 

 

Page 9 of 9 
 

 
Board of Appeals 

 
 
________________________________                ________________________________ 
      Mark Hyland, Chairperson    Gerard Bowes, Vice Chairperson 
 
 
________________________________                ________________________________ 
      Richard Carlson, Secretary    Lou Ann Lancaster, Member 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
      Joseph Radziszewski, Member   Stan Tetenman, Alternate  
    
 



































Town of Poland
Board of Appeals

Wednesday, October 3, 2018
7:00 pm at Town Office Conference Room

Administrative Appeal for
Map 23, Lot 6





From: Douglas Wight
To: Sarah Merrill
Cc: Douglas Wight; Andrea Blunt
Subject: Administrative Appeal - Wight 108 Legendre Lane
Date: Friday, September 7, 2018 2:16:25 PM

Dear Members of the Zoning Board of Appeals, Poland Maine:

I understand that my administrative appeal meeting has been scheduled for
September 17, 2018. This meeting date is a hardship for me in that I have a
longstanding travel commitment preventing me from being able to attend.

In the interest of scheduling a new date, I am writing to waive my right to a Zoning
Board of Appeals meeting date within 30 days of the date of the filing of my appeal.

I look forward to hearing from you regarding a new meeting date.  

Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Douglas Wight

mailto:d_d_wight@yahoo.com
mailto:planningadmin@polandtownoffice.org
mailto:d_d_wight@yahoo.com
mailto:ablunt09@gmail.com



































































































	ADPAEBF.tmp
	UCALL TO ORDERU – Chairperson Mark Hyland called the meeting to order at 7:00pm with Members Gerard Bowes, Joseph Radziszewski, Jr, Lou Ann Lancaster, and Stanley Tetenman (a voting member for this meeting) present. Member Richard Carlson absent with ...
	Public Attendance: Code Enforcement Officer Scott Neal, Recording Secretary Sarah Merrill, Elizabeth and David Carr, David Gravel, John Leonard, and Steve Lancaster present.
	UCOMMUNICATIONSU – None
	UAPPEALSU – UVariance Appeal – 54 Watson Road – Elizabeth and David Carr
	U– Map 5 Lot 16 Sub-lot B7
	 Elizabeth and David Carr are present.
	 Standing: Member Radziszewski makes a motion that the Carr’s have standing by virtue of the fact that they own Map 6 Lot 16 Sub-lot B7. Vice Chairperson Bowes seconds the motion. Discussion: None     Vote: 5- Yes   0-No
	 Cause of Action: Vice Chairperson Bowes makes a motion that the Appellants have a cause of action because the Town is saying that they have violated their building permit of June 11, 2008. Member Radziszewski seconds the motion. Discussion: None
	Vote: 5- Yes   0-No
	UAdjournU – Member Tetenman makes a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:33 pm. Member Radziszewski seconds the motion. Discussion: None     Vote: 5-Yes   0-No

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



